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WASHINGTON, DC 20510

May 17,2017

Walter Shaub

Director

Office of Government Ethics

1201 New York Avenue NW, Suite 500
Washington, D.C. 20005

Dear Director Shaub,

We write today to request information about the ethics rules that President Trump’s Chief
Strategist and Senior Counselor, Stephen Bannon, is required to follow with regard to
communications with his former employer, Breitbart News Network. We also request your
assistance with understanding the role your office and other federal offices will play in ensuring
Mr. Bannon’s compliance with these rules.

On April 20, 2017, we sent letters to Mr. Bannon and to Stefan Passantino, Deputy
Counsel to the President, raising questions about Mr. Bannon’s recent communications with
Breitbart News Network (“Breitbart”).! Mr. Bannon formerly served as Breitbart’s Executive
Chairman.? On February 14, 2017, Breitbart published what has been described as “an extensive
attack” on Reince Priebus, President Trump’s Chief of Staff.> Mr. Bannon told news outlets that
he “went ballistic” on a phone call with Breitbart’s Washington political editor, Matthew Boyle,
to protest this article.” Later that week, Mr. Bannon reportedly “instructed [Boyle] not to publish
additional articles critical of Priebus,” an act that spurred the White House to offer Boyle “access
to key staffers,” including Press Secretary Sean Spicer, Deputy Chief of Staff Katie Walsh, and
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President Trump himself.s In March, Breitbart’s Editor in Chief, Alex Marlow, told reporters that
Mr. Bannon “reach[es] out” to him “every so often.”s

In our letters to Mr. Bannon and Mr. Passantino, we expressed our concern that Mr.
Bannon’s actions were in violation of Executive Order 13770. President Trump signed Executive
Order 13770 on January 28, 2017.7 The order requires “[e]very appointee in every executive
agency appointed on or after January 20, 2017” to sign and “be contractually committed to” an
“Ethics Pledge.” 8 Among other provisions, the Ethics Pledge prevents appointees from
“participat[ing] in any particular matter involving specific parties that is directly and
substantially related to [their] former employer or former clients” for the first two years after
their appointment.o The Executive Order states that a “particular matter involving specific
parties” includes “any meeting or other communication relating to the performance of one’s
official duties with a former employer or former client.”10 It appears that Mr. Bannon’s
communications with Breitbart may be in violation of the Ethics Pledge.

Our letters also indicated that Mr. Bannon’s communications may have violated
requirements that executive branch officials “maintain the appearance of impartiality” regarding
former employers. Office of Government Ethics (“OGE”) regulations require executive branch
employees to “avoid an appearance of loss of impartiality in the performance of...official
duties.”11 To maintain the appearance of impartiality, executive branch employees are prohibited
by 5 C.F.R. § 2635.502 from “participat[ing] in a particular matter” if they “know that a person
with whom [they have] a covered relationship is or represents a party.” Executive branch
employees are considered to be in a “covered relationship” with individuals “for whom the
employee, within the last year, served as officer, director, trustee, general partner, agent,
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attorney, consultant, contractor or employee.”12 Mr. Bannon’s public financial disclosures clearly
list Breitbart News Network, LLC, as one of Mr. Bannon’s employers in 2016.13

Neither Mr. Bannon nor Mr. Passantino has responded to our April 20" letters. We
therefore ask your office to provide us with answers to the following questions no later than June
5, 2017. To the extent that any of our questions raise privilege or confidentiality concerns, we
would be happy to discuss our request further to clarify the information we hope OGE will
provide:

1. Please provide an overview of relevant laws, precedents, executive orders, and legal
opinions applicable to Mr. Bannon’s role as Chief Strategist and Senior Counselor to
the President and his relationship and communications with Breitbart News.

2. If Mr. Bannon communicated with Breitbart News, would those communications
comply with any of these relevant laws, executive orders, precedents, and legal
opinions?

a. Would these communications with Breitbart appear to be in violation of
Executive Order 13770 and 5 C.F.R. § 2635.502?

b. Are you aware of whether the White House provided Mr. Bannon with a
waiver from Executive Order 13770, or an authorization under 5 C.F.R. §
2635.502, to allow him to communicate with Breitbart News?

3. If Mr. Bannon is not complying with relevant laws, executive order, precedents, and
legal opinions, what are the potential consequences for him? Which government
officials in the White House or elsewhere are responsible for determining if Mr.
Bannon is complying, and enforcing these consequences if he is not?

4. Has Mr. Bannon discussed his conflicts of interest and recusal requirements related to
Breitbart News with the Office of Government Ethics?

a. If so, when, and what was the nature of the discussion?
b. Did OGE provide Mr. Bannon with any advice, and did he follow this advice?

c. Should Mr. Bannon violate this guidance, what disciplinary actions could
OGE or the Designated Agency Ethics Official in the White House Counsel
take?

125 C.F.R. § 2635.502 (online https://www.law.cornell.edu/cfr/text/5/2635.502).
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5. Have any other White House officials discussed Mr. Bannon’s conflicts of interest
and recusal requirements related to Breitbart News with the Office of Government

Ethics?
a. If so, when, and what was the nature of the discussion?

b. Did OGE provide these individuals with any advice, and was this advice
followed by the White House and Mr. Bannon?

Please do not hesitate to reach out to Brian Cohen of Senator Warren’s staff at 202-224-
2245, Joe Gaeta of Senator Whitehouse’s staff at 202-224-2921, Andrew Cohen of Senator
Markey’s staff at 202-224-2742, and Jeremy Horan of Senator Hirono’s staff at 202-224-6361.

Sincerely,
Flizabdath Warren Sfeldon Whitehouse
United [States Senator United States Senator

Mazie irono

United States Senator

Edward J. Markey ()
United States Senator



